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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 


HOUSTON DIVISION 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

VS. 

Plaintiff, 
COMPLAINT 
Civil Action No. 

ROBERT L. SONPIELD, 
DONALD C. BRADLEY, 
JEFFREY W. BRADLEY, 
JASON LANDESS, 
MARC LANE, 
ROGER BREWER, 

Defendants, 

And 

ALEXANDERIA K. BLANKENSHIP 

Relief Defendant. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff United States Securities and Exchange Commission alleges as follows: 

SUMMARY 

1. This case arises from an international unregistered, nonexempt distribution 

of over 10.8 million shares of the common stock of Exobox Technologies Corporation, a 

company based in Houston, Texas. This scheme, which involved a variety of violations 

of the federal securities laws, allowed the Defendants to collectively reap proceeds 

exceeding $3.91 million. 

2. In June 2005, Defendants Jason Landess, a Nevada attorney, Jeffrey W. 

Bradley and Donald C. Bradley conveyed control of Kilis, Inc. to Defendant Robert L. 
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Sonfield, a Houston-area attorney, who was to then orchestrate a reverse merger between 

Kilis and one of Sonfield's privately-held clients. Specifically, Landess and the Bradleys 

delivered to Sonfield all of Kilis's business records, including its stock certificate book 

and all of the outstanding common stock certificates of Kilis, together with sham "stock 

powers" in exchange for Sonfield's agreement to orchestrate the reverse merger and 

provide them with 10% of the common stock of the public entity resulting from the 

reverse merger. During the period in which Sonfield possessed Kilis's certificate book, 

several unpaid, backdated Kilis certificates were issued to incorrectly reflect that they 

could be traded under exemptions to the registration provisions of the federal securities 

laws. 

3. In September 2005, Sonfield and Defendants Marc Lane, a British citizen 

believed to reside in Cadiz, Spain, and Roger Brewer, a British citizen believed to reside 

in Penzance, England, engineered a reverse merger between Kilis and one of Sonfield's 

privately-held clients, a Delaware corporation known as Exobox. Following the merger, 

Sonfield, Lane and Brewer controlled virtually all of the putatively ''free trading" pubIic 

"float" of Exobox common stock. They then arranged, from approximately late 2005 

through at least April 2007, for the transfer and sale of the vast majority of those shares 

into the public market through "grey market" sales, reaping collective proceeds of $3.91 

million. During this process, Relief Defendant Alexanderia Blankenship, through her 

personal relationship with Sonfield, received approximately $647,000 in proceeds. 

4. Sonfield substantially contributed to these transactions by, for example, 

causing most of the post-merger Exobox shares to be distributed to the offshore entities 

controlled by Lane and Brewer. He also authored an opinion letter falsely stating that the 
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shares, with minor exceptions, were freely tradable without registration in accordance 

with the registration exemptions found in Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1033 

("Securities Act"). 

5. In addition, in late 2005, Sonfield prepared and filed, on behalf of Exobox, 

multiple required public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission that 

omitted the material fact that he, Lane and Brewer controlled almost all of the company's 

public float. 

6. Because of these material omissions, Sonfield violated the antifraud 


provisions of the federal securities laws and aided and abetted violations of the reporting 


provisions of the federal securities laws. 


7. Sonfield, Lane and Brewer also violated the reporting and disclosure 

requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934("Exchange Act") by not disclosing 

their control of Exobox holdings. Finally, all the Defendants violated the registration 

provisions of the Securities Act through their involvement in these unregistered 

transactions. 

8. The Commission, in the interest of protecting the public from further 

violations of the federal securities laws, brings this action seeking an order pem'anently 

enjoining Defendants from violating and aiding and abetting violations of certain of the 

federal securities laws, imposing civil monetary penalties and disgorgement of ill-gotten 

gains, plus pre-judgment interest, and issuing a penny stock bar against each Defendant. 

The Commission further seeks an order requiring Relief Defendant Blankenship to 

disgorge any proceeds that she received and that are derived from the Defendants' 

improper conduct. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 


9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) of the 

Securities Act [I 5 U.S.C. 8 77v(a)] and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 

78aal. Defendants have, directly and indirectly, made use of the means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce andlor the mails in connection with the 

transactions described in this Complaint. 

10. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 

U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78aa], because certain 

of the acts and transactions described herein took place in the Southern District of Texas 

and Defendant Sonfield resides in the Southern District of Texas. 

DEFENDANTS 

11. Robert L. Sonfield, 76, of Houston, Texas, is an attorney, licensed by the 

State Bar of Texas, whose practice generally focuses on the representation of small public 

companies. He engineered the reverse merger between Exobox's privately-held 

predecessor company and Kilis, putatively as counsel for Exobox. He also represented 

Exobox as counsel in connection with its Exchange Act registration and filings. Exobox 

dismissed Sonfield as its securities counsel in 2007. 

12. Donald C. Bradley, 76, of Las Vegas, Nevada, organizes and sells shell 

companies. He organized and controlled the shell company Kilis, Inc. up until its reverse 

merger in 2005 with Exobox's privately held predecessor. 

13. Jeffrey W. Bradley, 48, of Las Vegas, Nevada, is Donald Bradley's son 

and he assists his father in his shell organization and sales business. Jeffiey Bradley 
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helped his father organize Kilis, convey that shell to Sonfield, and negotiate his and his 

father's receipt of putatively unrestricted Exobox common shares. 

14. Jason Landess, 62, of Las Vegas, Nevada, an attorney licensed by the 

State of Nevada, introduced the Bradleys to Sonfield and participated in the resulting 

distribution of Exobox shares by, among other things, helping to arrange for the transfer 

of all of the outstanding Kilis common shares to Sonfield in connection with Kilis' 

merger with Exobox and the later distribution of Exobox shares to himself and the 

Bradle ys. 

15. Marc Lane and Roger Brewer controlled nine offshore entities that purport 

to share addresses in either Hong Kong or Nevis. Lane, 46, believed to reside in Cadiz, 

Spain, is a British citizen, and Brewer, 52, is a British citizen believed to reside in 

Penzance, England. The entities controlled by Lane and Brewer received approximately 

8.5 million Exobox shares from Sonfield, which Lane and Brewer later caused to be 

deposited into and then sold through U.S. brokerage accounts held in the name of the 

offshore entities. 

RELIEF DEFENDANT 

16. Alexanderia Blankenship, 46, of Houston, Texas, is a personal 

acquaintance of Sonfield who received Exobox shares for no apparent consideration 

following its reverse merger. Ultimately, those shares were sold in unregistered 

nonexempt transactions for proceeds approximating $647,000. 
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FACTS 


Original Sham Kilis Share 'Yssuance" 


17. On or about December 8, 1999, Donald and Jeffrey Bradley incorporated 

Kilis to engage in a merger or other business combination in the unspecified future. 

Kilis never conducted any business operations. 

18. On or about January 10, May 1 and June 15,2000, the Bradleys caused 

Kilis, without the benefit of any transfer agent, to issue 22 certificates representing 

1,915,000 shares of Kilis common stock ("founders7 certificates"). The Bradleys, who 

prepared the certificates, did not encumber the certificates with restrictive legends --

restrictions that would have correctly warned against reselling the shares into the public 

market place unless the sale wasexempt fiom the SEC's registration requirements -- and 

caused them to be issued to nominees, including six members of the Bradleys' family, 

who paid no consideration for the stock, did not receive the certificates, and who were 

for the most part not even aware that a Kilis stock certificate had been issued in their 

name. 

19. Notably, the Bradleys doctored portions of Kilis' corporate records to 

falsely indicate that certain nominees had paid consideration for the shares and attended 

at least some annual meetings. In reality, the Bradleys retained control and possession of 

the 22 founders' certificates until they delivered them to Sonfield in June 2005, having 

obtained at or near the time of issuance signed stock powers for all 22 founders 

certificates that purported to allow the Bradleys to transfer title of the stock. Each of the 

stock powers had signature medallion guarantees, but at least one of those medallions 

was a counterfeit and several signatures were forged. The transferee line on each stock 
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power was left blank, making the attached stock certificates freely negotiable by the 


Bradleys and Sonfield. 


Sonfield Acquires Control of the Original, and Additional, Kilis Shares 

20. Having been introduced to Landess by a mutual business associate at the 

end of 2004, Sonfield informed Landess in early 2005 that he and certain unnamed 

partners were interested in purchasing a shell company for a possible reverse merger with 

a private company. Shortly thereafter, Landess introduced Sonfield to the Bradleys, who 

Sonfield understood controlled corporate shells that might merge with one of his private 

company clients. 

21. In early June 2005, Sonfield proposed to Landess and the Bradleys that 

Kilis merge with one of Sonfield's clients, a privately held company known as JinPin, 

Inc. Landess and the Bradleys agreed that the Bradleys would deliver all of the original 

Kilis certificates to Sonfield in exchange for 10% of the stock in the company resulting 

from the reverse merger and, under the terms of the agreement, the 10% shares received 

back were to be "fiee trading." Separately, the Bradleys and Landess agreed with each 

other that Landess would receive half of the 10% of post-merger shares for his role. 

22. In accordance with this agreement, in June 2005, Sonfield took physical 

possession of the Kilis corporate documents, including the original 22 Kilis certificates, 

the accompanying stock powers, and a book of remaining blank stock certificates, signed 

by the Bradleys. Prior to this transfer, the Bradleys had maintained control of the 22 

certificates, notwithstanding the bogus "distribution" in 2001. After receiving the Kilis 

certificates, Sonfield made no attempt to contact any of the Kilis shareholders to 

determine whether they were bona fide shareholders of Kilis. Nor did Sonfield ever 
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provide any consideration to the Kilis shareholders for the receipt of their Kilis 


certificates. 


23. The agreement between Sonfield and the Bradleys was memorialized on 

or about June 27,2005 in a written document signed by Jeffrey Bradley on behalf of an 

entity he and Donald Bradley controlled and Sonfield, on behalf of his law firm.The 

written document confirmed that the Bradleys were to transfer "the necessary business 

records of [Kilis] to Sonfield," including, "the Stock Register andlor original stock 

certificates, etc." The agreement also provided that Sonfield would hold the documents 

in escrow and "should the contemplated merger (or an agreed-upon substitute 

transaction) not be completed within ninety (90) days," Sonfield would return the 

documents to the Bradleys. Landess helped orchestrate and memorialize this agreement, 

which was sent via facsimile between Sonfield and Landess. No registration statement 

was filed or in effect regarding this securities transaction between Sonfield and the 

Bradleys and Landess. 

24. During this time period in June 2005, additional Kilis shares were issued, 

and, again, there was no registration statement filed or in effect regarding these 

transactions. First, Landess requested that a portion of the shares owed to him pursuant 

to the agreement described above be issued in the name of his step-brother. In response 

to this request, a certificate representing 100,000 shares was issued in the name of 

Landess' step-brother. However, Landess' step brother paid no consideration for the 

shares and never received them. Instead, Sonfield retained control over the certificate, 

having requested and received a blank stock power signed by the step-brother that, in 

effect, made the certificate freely negotiable. Ultimately, Sonfield arranged for these 
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shares to be transferred to an off-shore entity controlled by Lane and Brewer. Landess 

was aware that his step-brother had putatively received shares but had paid no 

consideration for those shares and had, in essence, left control of those shares with 

Sonfield. 

25. Also in June 2005, two other Kilis certificates were issued: the second for 

100,000 shares to Sonfield's then-legal assistant and the third, representing 300,000 

shares, to the an individual who had putatively been appointed as JinPin's principal. The 

shares issued to the legal assistant ultimately were conveyed by Sonfield to Lane and . 

Brewer, through one of the offshore entities they controlled. 

26. Each of these newly-issued certificates was issued without restrictive 

legends, and -although issued in 2005, each was falsely backdated to reflect an issuance 

date of March 1,2003. Backdating the issuance to March 1,2003 was intended to, and 

did, facilitate prompt re-sale of the stock, purportedly under the Rule 144(k) safe harbor 

from registration, by falsely reflecting that the three new shareholders held the shares for 

at least two years, a holding period required to fit within the Rule 401(k) registration 

exemption. None of these new putative "shareholders" paid any consideration for their 

Kilis shares. 

27. In or about June 2005, in connection with the proposed transaction and 

pursuant to Sonfield's instructions, Landess made filings with the Nevada Secretary of 

State reporting Kilis had changed its name to JinPin and that the principal of JinPin, a 

Canadian resident ("the JinPin principal"), had become Kilis' sole officer and director. 

However, the JinPin merger never closed, and Sonfield retained control of virtually all 

outstanding Kilis shares. 
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Kilis Reverse Merges with Exobox 

28. In or about August 2005, Sonfield -while still in control of the Kilis stock 

certificates -began representing Exobox, at that time still a privately-held company. 

Sonfield introduced a representative of Exobox via a telephone conference call to Lane 

and Brewer, explaining to the Exobox representative that Lane and Brewer controlled a 

shell company known as JinPin (i.e., Kilis) that was a potential reverse merger candidate. 

Sonfield failed to inform Exobox's representatives the details regarding his earlier 

transactions with Landess and the Bradleys, including the fact that he had received 

control of Kilis from the Bradleys and that he, in fact, retained control of those shares. 

29. In the telephone conference, the parties discussed a potential reverse 

merger. Lane and Brewer told the Exobox representative that they could provide Exobox 

with a "clean public shell," $500,000 in cash and payment of the expenses associated 

with the reverse merger, including accounting fees and Sonfield's legal expenses, in 

exchange for a total 5% equity interest in the surviving company. Again, Sonfield never 

disclosed his agreement with the Bradleys and Landess, nor did he disclose that upon the 

completion of the reverse merger, he would control virtually all of Exobox's outstanding 

common stock since he controlled the original 22 Kilis founders' certificates and at least 

two of the certificates that were issued in 2005 (but that had been backdated to falsely 

reflect a 2003 issuance date). Relying on Sonfield's advice, Exobox's officers agreed to 

a reverse merger with JinPin. 

30. Sonfield, putatively on behalf of Exobox, prepared all of the documents to 

complete the merger transaction, while Landess wrote an opinion letter in which he 

claimed to represent Kilis' successor, JinPin, in the merger. Landess also assisted in the 
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reverse merger by assisting the auditors. Although Lane and Brewer had represented to 

Exobox that they would pay auditor expenses associated with the reverse-merger, those 

expenses were ultimately paid fiom Sonfield's account. 

31. In fulfillment of their offer to Exobox, an off-shore entity controlled by 


Lane and Brewer entered into an agreement with Exobox to purchase 20,000 shares of 


Exobox Class C convertible preferred stock for $500,000. The preferred stock 


represented the 5% equity interest negotiated by Lane and Brewer for providing the shell 


and paying various fees. During the same time period, JinPin (i.e., Kilis) approved a 


4.5:1 forward split of its outstanding common stock, which increased its outstanding 


shares of common stock to 10,867,500. The merger closed on September 15,2005. 


32. As part of the merger, the officers and directors of privately-held Exobox 

received convertible preferred stock that had conversion terms and voting rights that left 

them in voting control of the entity that survived the merger. While those officers and 

directors maintained voting control over the entity's business activities, Sonfield, at the 

time of and shortly following the merger transaction controlled over 88% of the surviving 

entity's "public float." As a result, these shares were control shares and restricted 

securities. 

33. Nevertheless, in October 2005, Sonfield took steps to facilitate the public 

trading of the stock of the surviving, now-public, company, Exobox. For example, on or 

about October 7,2005, Sonfield prepared and submitted a tradability opinion letter to the 

Pink Sheets, LLC (as it was then known) and to Exobox's transfer agent. In the letter, 

Sonfield set out his opinion that, as of the date of the letter, virtually all of the shares, 

including those issued to the Bradleys, "may be sold immediately in the public market by 
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the holders thereof, without registration under the Securities Act in reliance on the safe 

harbor of Rule 144(k) under the Securities Act." Sonfield did not disclose that, in reality, 

nearly all of the remaining 10,867,500 shares of common stock were controlled by him 

and Lane and Brewer, not the putative nominees. Although Sonfield's opinion letter was 

subsequently posted on the Pink Sheets website, Exobox was not accepted for quotation 

and its shares traded via unsolicited quotes published in the Over-the-counter Bulletin 

Board. 

34. On or about October 14,2005, Exobox's common stock began grey 

market trading at $1.50 per share on volume of 1,900 shares. The grey market is a 

market for a security in which there are no market makers or broker-dealers transacting in 

the security for their own accounts. 

35. From mid-January to the end of February 2006, Exobox's share price 

increased fi-om $1.60 to a high of $22.00 and stabilized at approximately $15.00, on very 

limited volume. 

Sonfield's Unregistered, Nonexempt Distribution of Exobox Shares 

36. In or about September 2005, Sonfield's legal assistant received the 

unsolicited and unpaid for Kilis stock certificate issued in her name, representing 450,000 

post-split Exobox shares. When she pointed out to Sonfield that the certificate falsely 

reflected a March 1,2003 issuance date, Sonfield told her "not to worry about it" and 

instructed her to deposit the certificate in her'brokerage account. 

37. On or about October 15,2005 - the date on which Exobox's shares began 


grey market trading -Sonfield began directing his legal assistant to sell the Kilis shares 


issued in her name, which she had, in accordance with Sonfield's instructions, deposited 
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into her brokerage account and which had subsequently been converted into 450,000 

post-split Exobox common shares. From October 14,2005 to mid-January 2006, 

Sonfield directed or was aware of the sales of 12,200 Exobox shares from his legal 

assistant's account for total gross proceeds of approximately $1 9,600. 

38. In or about January 2006, Sonfield told his legal assistant that he was 


merely "parkingyy the Exobox shares in her account and that they actually belonged to 


Lane and Brewer. At that point, she asked Sonfield to remove the shares from her 


account. Shortly thereafter, on or about January 17,2006, Sonfield directed his legal 


assistant to transfer the remaining 437,800 shares of Exobox common stock and $18,829 


in Exobox proceeds from her account to a brokerage account in Blankenship's name, 


over which Sonfield had written, discretionary trading authority. This was not the first 


time that Sonfield used accounts in Blankenship's name to transfer securities and make 


use of subsequent trading proceedings. For example, in July 2005, as part of a 


transaction that does not appear related to the Exobox matter, Sonfield directed the 


transfer agent of another company to issue shares of that company in Blankenship's name 


and then deposited the certificate into a Blankenship's brokerage account. Ultimately 


those shares were sold into the market for proceeds of roughly $73,000, a portion of 


which Sonfield then used to pay certain of the issuer's consulting expenses. 


39. From January 18 to February 14,2006, Sonfield or Blankenship, with 


Sonfield's knowledge or direction, sold approximately 68,996 shares of Exobox shares 


from her account, reaping total gross proceeds of $628,486. 
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40. On or about January 24,2006, Sonfield, or Blankenship on his behalf, at 


his direction or with his knowledge, transferred $25,000 of these proceeds from 


Blankenship's brokerage account to Landess. 


41. From February 2 to February 21,2006, wire transfers totaling $616,027 


were made from Blankenship's brokerage account to a Houston bank account in her 


name. Of those funds, approximately $607,977 was, shortly thereafter, transferred to a 


bank account in the name of an offshore entity controlled by Lane and Brewer. Later, in 


March and May 2007, after Sonfield and s lank ens hi^ learned of the Commission's 


investigation in this matter, approximately $621,570 was returned to Blankenship's bank 


account. 


42. Following that transfer, over the next several months Blankenship spent 


roughly $375,000 of those proceeds on various expenses, including the payment of taxes 


owed to the Internal Revenue Service, a manufactured home, a real estate down payment, 


and ultimately transferred the balance to a new brokerage account, opened in December 


43. No registration statement was filed or in effect as to these securities 


transactions described above. 


Sonfield Transfers Shares to Lane and Brewer, Who Promptly Re-sell Them. 

44. On four separate occasions between October 2005 and July 2006, Sonfield 

delivered a total of 19 of the original Kilis founders certificates and their accompanying 

signed stock powers to Exobox's transfer agent in Utah for cancellation and re-issuance 

as 8.5 million post-split Exobox shares. Rather than having the Exobox shares re-issued 

in the names of the founding Kilis shareholders, Sonfield instructed the transfer agent to 
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re-issue the certificates in the names of nine offshore entities controlled by Lane and 

Brewer. Sonfield also delivered for re-issuance the certificates issued in June 2005 to the 

JinPin principal in June 2005 and to Landess' step-brother. 

45. Pursuant to Sonfield's instructions, the transfer agent cancelled the Kilis 


certificates and reissued the shares as Exobox certificates without restrictive legends in 


the names of nine different offshore entities, all controlled by or holding the shares for 


the benefit of, Lane and Brewer. Sonfield directed the transfer agent to deliver all of 


these certificates by overnight mail to Lane and Brewer's London-based attorney. 


46. These deliveries, representing the following percentages of Exobox 

common stock, occurred on the following dates: 


35.19% on October 12 2005; 


12.42% on February 17,2006; 


18.63% on July 10,2006; and 


12% on July 3 1,2006. 


47. On instructions from Lane and Brewer, their London attorney deposited 


the Exobox certificates received fiom Exobox's transfer agent into four U.S. broker- 


dealers, in accounts opened in the names of eight offshore entities. Curiously, those 


deliveries to the U.S. brokerage accounts were staggered so that no account held more 


than 5% of Exobox's outstanding common stock at any one time. 


48. From March 9,2006 through April 13,2007, Lane and Brewer directed 


the sale of approximately 8 million Exobox shares from these accounts, reaping gross 


proceeds of approximately $2.78 million. All proceeds from these sales were transferred 


to overseas bank accounts either controlled or beneficially owned by Lane and Brewer. 
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From February to June 2006, approximately $1,152,780 in Exobox common stock sales 

proceeds were wired, on instruction of or for the benefit of Lane and Brewer, fiom their 

offshore entities' U.S. brokerage accounts to their foreign bank accounts, including in the 

United Kingdom. 

49. Neither Lane, nor Brewer, nor the off-shore entities filed notices of 


proposed sales under Securities Act Rule 14401). By mid-April 2006 Lane and Brewer's 


offshore entities had sold 128,458 shares, well-exceeding the 1% volume limitation of 


Rule 144(e)(l)(i). 


50. Lane and Brewer used a portion of their Exobox common stock sale 

proceeds to pay the $500,000 to Exobox in exchange for Exobox preferred stock pursuant 

as agreed with Exobox during the reverse merger negotiations. Specifically, Lane and 

Brewer caused four payments, totaling $500,000, to be wired from the foreign bank 

accounts to Sonfield, who forwarded the hnds to Exobox as installment payments 

required by the preferred stock purchase agreement. At least $200,000 of these 

installment payments represented Exobox common stock sales proceeds. 

5 1. No registration statement was filed or in effect regarding these securities 


transactions described above. 


Unregistered, Nonexempt Distributions by the Bradleys and Landess 

52. On or about February 22,2006, Don Bradley received three of the original 

Kilis share certificates that been issued in 2000, putatively in his name and that of his son 

and wife. Following the stock split and reverse merger, these certificates represented 

approximately 1.2 million Exobox shares, or about 1 1 % of Exobox's outstanding 

common stock. 
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53. On March 1,2006, in what was possibly an attempt to prevent the 

Bradleys and Landess from selling their shares and undercutting Sonfield, Lane and 

Brewer, who were selling shares they controlled, Sonfield instructed the transfer agent to 

place a restrictive legend on the Bradleys' shares. This action, of course, was expressly 

contrary to Sonfield's October 7,2005 tradability opinion letter, 

54. Landess responded by threatening to file suit against Sonfield, Exobox and 

others if the restriction was not removed. Indeed, he forwarded a draft complaint to 

Sonfield and others that detailed the agreement between the Bradleys, Landess and 

Sonfield, alleging, for example, that: 

. . .all of the unrestricted shares then in Sonfield's possession (consisting of 
10,867,500 shares) would be kept by Sonfield and his partners as consideration 
for doing the technical securities legal and corporate work necessary to "take the 
company public." This pool of stock is commonly referred to as "the float." 

The draft complaint also alleged that Sonfield and his partners had promised to tender 

five percent (5%) of the float to the Bradleys and another five percent (5%) to Landess 

after the consummation of the aforementioned merger. 

55. Landess' draft complaint confirms, in blunt detail, that the Bradleys 

controlled all of the Kilis founders' certificates and that the Bradleys and Landess 

conveyed control of those certificates to Sonfield in consideration for (a) Sonfield 

arranging a reverse merger between Kilis and one of Sonfield's private company clients 

and (b) Sonfield's promise to deliver 10% of the common stock of the merged entity to 

the Bradleys and Landess. Even in the face of the threatened lawsuit, Sonfield continued 

to have the Kilis founders' certificates reissued as putatively Wee trading" Exobox 

shares in the names of entities controlled by Lane and Brewer and to have those reissued 
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certificates distributed to entities controlled by Lane and Brewer in unregistered, 

nonexempt transactions. 

56. Ultimately, on March 7,2006, the dispute with the Bradleys and Landess 


was resolved when the shares were cancelled and reissued as unrestricted Exobox shares, 


in accordance with Donald Bradley's original instructions, to Donald Bradley, Jeff 


Bradley (andlor their nominees) and an entity controlled by Landess, and he refrained 


from filing his lawsuit. The transfer agent reissued the shares after it received an opinion 


letter written by a Los Angeles attorney, relying on representations from the Bradleys, 


which indicated that the Bradleys' shares were indeed unrestricted pursuant to Rule 


144(k). 


57. The Kilis shares the Bradleys gave up (as part of their original deal with 


Sonfield) in exchange for 10% of the outstanding shares of the surviving Exobox public 


company were returned to them only in February 2006. Therefore, they had not held the 


securities for two years, as required by Rule 144(k). 


58. From April 21,2006 through February 6,2007, Donald and Jeff Bradley 


and their nominees received $204,354 from over-the-counter sales of 493,750 shares of 


Exobox common stock. These sales exceeded the 1 % volume limitation of Rule 


144(e)(l)(i) beginning in June 2006. 


59. From March 2 1,2006 through October 17,2006, Landess and his nominee 


entity received $286,711 from over-the-counter sales of 593,750 shares of Exobox 


common stock. These sales exceeded the 1% volume limitation of Rule 144(e)(l)(i) 


beginning June 2006. 
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60. No registration statement was filed or in effect regarding the securities 

transactions described above. 

Sonfeld Drafis and Files Public Filings that Fraudulently Conceals His and 

Lane and Brewer's Control of Exobox's Public Float 


61. On or about December 21,2005, Sonfield prepared and filed a Form 10- 

SB registration statement, on behalf of Exobox, to register the company's common stock. 

On or about February 3,2006, Sonfield filed a Form 10-SBIA to amend the registration 

statement. These filings contained untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. These materially false and 

misleading statements and omissions include: the failure to disclose that immediately 

after the reverse merger that resulted in Exobox, Sonfield controlled at least 9.6 million 

shares or 88% of the company's outstanding common stock and purportedly unrestricted 

float; the failure to disclose Sonfield's transfer of approximately 35% of Exobox's 

common stock to Lane and Brewer's entities, which they still held at that time; the failure 

to disclose Sonfield's agreement to provide 10% of the company's common stock to the 

Bradleys and to Landess. On or about February 19,2006, the registration became 

effective. 

62. On or about March 8 and 9,2006, Sonfield prepared and filed two post- 

effective amendments to the Form 10-SB. Both amendments stated that "as of the 

closing date [of the Exobox merger], Exobox Nevada [JinPin, W a  Kilis] was a non- 

operating blank check or shell corporation controlled by Donald C. Bradley, his wife, 

Shirlene Bradley, and their son, Jeff Bradley." This statement is contrary to a statement 

in Sonfield's October 7,2005 tradability opinion letter that the Bradleys "ceased to be 
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affiliates [of Kilis] on June 22,2005," which was the date they, at Sonfield's direction, 

formally appointed the JinPin principal as the company's sole officer and director in 

connection with the failed Kilis/JinPin merger. 

63. This filing also contained untrue statements of material fact and omitted to 


state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 


circumstances under which they were made, not misleading by concealing Sonfield, Lane 


and Brewer's control of the Kilis certificates and Sonfield's disposition of virtually all of 


Exobox's common stock after the Exobox merger. By the time Sonfield filed the Form 


10-SB amendments in March, he had transferred 47.6 1% of Exobox's purportedly 


unrestricted common stock to Lane and Brewer's off-shore entities, yet Sonfield failed to 


report the entities' ownership when he drafted and filed the amendments to Exobox's 


registration statement. 


64. In addition, the March 2006 Form 10-SB amendment continued to report, 

as did the original and first mended Form 10-SB filings, that the principal of JinPin who 

had been issued shares in June 2005, still owned 1,350,000 shares of Exobox common 

stock, equal to 12.42% of the common shares then outstanding. However, in reality, 

Sonfield had directed sale of 300,000 of those shares to one of Lane and Brewer's 

offshore entities in February 2006 and had received numerous blank stock powers signed, 

at Sonfield's direction by the former JinPin principal, for the sale of the remaining 

1,050,000 shares. 

65. On or about November 7,2006, Sonfield prepared and filed Exobox's 

Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended July 3 1,2006. Again, this filing contained untrue 

statements of material fact and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make 
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the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading by failing to disclose that Lane and Brewer controlled the vast percentage of 

the company's common stock. 

66. By concealing the material fact that he, Lane and Brewer controlled and 

had beneficial ownership of reportable percentages of Exobox's common stock, Sonfield 

deprived investors of material information, including the facts that he, Lane and Brewer 

controlled the company's purportedly unrestricted common stock float and its market and 

that an apparent investor in preferred stock was actually a Lane and Brewer controlled 

entity. 

67. Sonfield prepared these public filings and caused them to be filed with the 

Commission, and he knew or was reckless in not knowing that each contained material 

omissions as described above, despite his duty to ensure that these public filings were 

accurate. 

Defendants Fail to File Ownership Reports 

68. As the result of Sonfield's Exobox certificate deliveries, Lane and Brewer, 

directly or indirectly, owned more than 10% of Exobox's outstanding common stock on 

February 19,2006, when Exobox's Form 10-SB registration became effective. After the 

effective date, they acquired additional stock in amounts exceeding two per cent of the 

total outstanding common stock. Regardless, neither Lane, nor Brewer, nor any entity 

ever filed required reports on Schedule 13Dor Forms 3 or 4 regarding their acquisition, 

ownership and sales of Exobox common stock. 

69. Sonfield's procurement of Kilis, his ability to cause Kilis to engage in the 


reverse merger, his control over the Kilis certificates, and subsequent control over the 
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Exobox certificates, plus his control over the Exobox stock transactions in the account of 

his legal assistant and Blankenship show his beneficial ownership and control of more 

than 10% of Exobox's outstanding cornrnon stock. Yet, Sonfield never filed any required 

reports on Schedule 13D or Forms 3 or 4 regarding his acquisition, ownership and sales 

of Exobox common stock. 

FIRST CLAIM 

Sonfield's Violations of Section lo&) of the Exchange Act and 


Rule lob-5 Thereunder 


70. Plaintiff Commission hereby incorporates paragraphs 1 through 69 as if 


fully set forth herein. 


71. Defendant Sonfield, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, 


in connection with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means and 


instrumentalities of interstate commerce and by use of the mails, and in violation of has: 


(a) employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of 


material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the 


statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 


misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses of business which operate as a 


fraud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers, and other persons. 


72. Defendant Sonfield knowingly or recklessly engaged in the conduct 


described in this claim and did so in violation of his duties. 


73. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Sonfield violated, and unless 


enjoined, will continue to violate the provisions of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 


U.S.C. (j 78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. (j 240.10b-51. 
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SECOND CLAIM 

Violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 


74. Plaintiff Commission hereby incorporates paragraphs 1 through 69 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

75. Defendants Sonfield, Donald Bradley, Jefiey Bradley, Landess, Lane and 

Brewer, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others: (a) without a registration 

statement in effect as to the securities, (i) made use of the means or instruments of 

transportation or communication or the mails to sell such securities through the use or 

medium of a prospectus or otherwise, or (ii) carried or caused to be carried through the 

mails, or in interstate commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, such 

securities for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale; and (b)made use of the means 

or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails 

to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise 

securities for which a registration statement had not been filed as to such securities. 

76. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Sonfield, Donald Bradley, Jefiey 

Bradley, Landess, Lane and Brewer violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate 

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. $8 77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

THIRD CLAIM 

Sonfield's Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchan~e Act 


and Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 Thereunder 


77. Plaintiff Commission hereby incorporates paragraphs 1 through 69 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

78. Exobox is a public company whose common stock is registered with the 

Commission and is required to file annual reports with the Commission in accordance 

with Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 13a-1 thereunder. Exchange Act Rule 
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12b-20 requires that such reports contain, in addition to disclosures expressly required by 

statute and rules, such other information as is necessary to ensure that the statements 

made are not, under the circumstances, misleading. 

79. Defendant Sonfield knowingly or recklessly substantially assisted the 


filing of false and misleading reports and forms with the Commission. 


80. By reason of the foregoing, defendant Sonfield has aided and abetted 


violations of, and unless enjoined, will continue to aid and abet violations of, Section 


13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 8 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 [C.F.R. $8 


240.12b-20 and 13a-11. 


FOURTH CLAIM 

Violations by Lane and Brewer of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act 


and Rule 13d-1 Thereunder 


8 1. Plaintiff Commission hereby incorporates paragraphs 1 through 69 as if 


fully set forth herein. 


82. Defendants Lane and Brewer had beneficial ownership of more than five 

percent of Exobox's outstanding shares of common stock by October 2005. Accordingly, 

they were required to file a Form 3 and Schedule 13D with the Commission, but failed to 

do so. Further, they failed to file Forms 4 notifying the Commission of changes in their 

Exobox securities holdings. 

83. By reason of the foregoing, defendants Lane and Brewer violated and, 


unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $ 


78m(d)] and Rule 13d-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. $ 240.13d-11. 
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FIFTH CLAIM 

Violations bv Sonfield, Lane and Brewer of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and 

Rule 16a-3 Thereunder 

84. Plaintiff Commission hereby incorporates paragraphs 1 through 69 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

85. Defendants Sonfield, Lane and Brewer had beneficial ownership of more 

than 10% of Exobox7s outstanding shares of common stock by at least October 2005. 

Exobox had a class of stock registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act. 

Defendants Sonfield, Lane and Brewer were required to file Forms 3 with the 

Commission, but failed to do so. Further, defendants Sonfield, Lane and Brewer failed to 

file Forms 4 notifying the Commission of changes in their Exobox shareholdings. 

Accordingly, defendants Sonfield, Lane and Brewer violated Section 16(a) and Rule 16a- 

3 thereunder. 

86. By reason of the foregoing, defendants Sonfield, Lane and Brewer 

violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act 

[15 U.S.C. fj 78p(a)] and Rule 16a-3 thereunder [17 C.F.R. 8 240.16a-31. 

SIXTH CLAIM 

Claim Against the Relief Defendant 


87. Plaintiff Commission hereby incorporates paragraphs 1 through 69 as if 

filly set forth herein. 

88. As set forth in this Complaint, Relief Defendant has received funds and 

assets from one or more of the Defendants, which are the proceeds of, or are traceable to 

the proceeds of, the unlawful activities of the Defendants as alleged above. 
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89. Relief Defendant has obtained the funds and assets alleged above as part 

of an in furtherance of the securities violations alleged in paragraphs 1 through 69 and 

under the circumstances it is not just, equitable or conscionable for her to retain the funds 

and assets. As a consequence, Relief Defendant Blankenship has been unjustly enriched. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court enter a 


judgment: 


(1) Permanently enjoining defendant Sonfield, and his agents, servants, 


employees, attorneys, and those in active concert or participation with it, who receive 


actual notice by personal service or otherwise, from violating Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of 


the Securities Act and Sections 10(b) and 16(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 1 Ob-5, 


and 16a-3 thereunder and from aiding and abetting violations of Section 13(a) of the 


Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20 and 13a- 1 thereunder; 


(2) Permanently enjoining defendants Donald C .  Bradley, Jefliey W. Bradley 


and Jason Landess and their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and those in active 


concert or participation with them, who receive actual notice by personal service or 


otherwise, from violating Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act; 


(3) Permanently enjoining defendants Lane and Brewer, and their agents, 


servants, employees, attorneys, and those in active concert or participation with them, 


who receive actual notice by personal service or otherwise, from violating Sections 5(a) 


and 5(c) of the Securities Act and Sections 13(d) and 16(a) of the Exchange Act and 


Rules 13d- 1 and 16a-3 thereunder; 
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(4) . Ordering defendants Sonfield, Donald Bradley, Jeffiey Bradley, Jason 

Landess, Marc Lane and Roger Brewer to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 

20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 5 77t(d)] and Sonfield, Lane and Brewer to pay 

civil money penalties pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 

78u(d)(3)1; 

(5) Order all Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to the funds and 

benefits they obtained illegally as a result of the violations alleged herein, plus 

prejudgment interest on that amount, and order Relief Defendant Blankenship to disgorge 

any gains or proceeds she received that are connected to the conduct described above; 

(6) Permanently barring defendants Sonfield, Donald Bradley, Jeffiey 

Bradley, Jason Landess, Marc Lane and Roger Brewer from participating in an offering 

of penny stock pursuant to Section 20(g) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 5 77t(g)] and, 

as to Sonfield, Lane and Brewer, pursuant to Section 21 (d)(6) of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. 8 78u(d)(6)]; and 

(7) Order any additional relief that this Court may deem just and proper. 

DATED: July 29,2008 
Res~ectfully submitted, 

David B. Reece 
Attorney in Charge 
Texas Bar No. 240028 10 
S.D. Texas Bar No. 896560 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900 
801 Cherry Street, Unit #18 
Fort Worth, Texas 76102-6882 
(817) 978-6476 
(817) 978-4927 (fax) 
reeced@,sec.gov-
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